

#### UNDER SECRETARY OF DEFENSE 4000 DEFENSE PENTAGON WASHINGTON, D.C. 20301-4000

MAR 2 5 2021

The Honorable Adam Smith Chairman Committee on Armed Services U.S. House of Representatives Washington, DC 20515

Dear Mr. Chairman:

The enclosed report is in response to House Report 116-442, page 151, accompanying H.R. 6395, the William (Mac) Thornberry National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2021, Cardiac Arterial Disease Diagnostic Improvements.

The report summarizes current pathways for diagnosis of Cardiac Arterial Disease in the Military Health System (MHS), cost analysis of Fractional Flow Reserve Derived from Computed Tomography (FFR<sub>CT</sub>), an analysis of cost savings for Cardiac Arterial Disease evaluation and diagnosis pathways, and implications on use of FFR<sub>CT</sub> in theater. Findings of the report show that it is not currently practical to conclude cost savings to the MHS directly related to the addition of FFR<sub>CT</sub> due to several factors, including lack of widespread use currently within the MHS. Additionally, due to cybersecurity concerns, as well as the degree of technological demand and high level of expertise required to perform and interpret FFR<sub>CT</sub>, its use is currently not feasible in theater.

Thank you for your continued strong support for the health and well-being of our Service members, veterans, and their families.

Sincerely,

//SIGNED//

Virginia S. Penrod Acting

Enclosure: As stated

cc: The Honorable Mike D. Rogers Ranking Member

# **Report to House Armed Services Committee**



Report on Cardiac Arterial Disease Diagnostic Improvements Requested by: House Report 116-442, page 151, to Accompany H.R. 6395, the William M. (Mac) Thornberry National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2021

# March 2021

The estimated cost of this report or study for the Department of Defense (DoD) is approximately \$6,570 in Fiscal Years 2018-2019. This includes \$0 in expenses and \$6,570 in DoD labor. Generated on 20201104 RefID: C-52C0B5C

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

I

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	2
PURPOSE	4
BACKGROUND	4
USE OF cCTA IN THE MHS	5
USE OF FFR <sub>CT</sub> IN THE MHS	6
COST ANALYSIS OF FFRct	7
PLANNED MHS COST SAVINGS ANALYSIS FOR CAD EVALUATION AND DIAGNOSIS PATHWAYS	8
IMPLICATIONS ON USE OF FFRct IN THEATER	9
CONCLUSION	9
REFERENCES	11
	A-1

Table 1: FFRct Performed in NPC, November 2019 - June 2020
Table 2: Average Allowed Amounts of FFRCT, November 2019 - June 2020
Table 3: Average Cost of FFRCT Performed in NPC, November 2019 - June 2020

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

This report is in response to House Report 116-442, page 151, to accompany H.R. 6395, the Willaim M. (Mac) Thornberry National Defense Authorization Act (NDAA) for Fiscal Year (FY) 2021, which requests a report analyzing the cost savings (including avoidance of transport from the theater of operations) of an anatomy-guided pathway for the diagnosis of coronary artery disease (CAD), as contrasted with the functional or ischemia-guided approach followed by invasive coronary angiography (ICA).

This report contains data on recent utilization of non-invasive and invasive procedures for evaluating CAD in patients without a previous diagnosis of CAD. It also contains a limited analysis on cost difference between an anatomy-first approach (coronary computed tomography angiography [cCTA]) versus a functional or ischemia-guided approach (traditional pathway) within the Military Health System (MHS), and outside of the MHS.

Key findings of this report include:

- A functional or ischemia guided pathway with non-invasive cardiac stress tests (graded exercise treadmill testing [GXT], single-photon emission computer tomography [SPECT], stress echocardiogram [SE], and stress cardiac magnetic resonance imaging [CMR]) is the most used method to diagnose possible obstructive CAD in patients with stable chest pain.
- Transitioning from a functional imaging to an anatomic strategy is currently endorsed by international guidelines; however, U.S. guidelines do not support this approach at the time of this writing.
- Results from studies within the MHS found that CAD identified by cCTA is associated with improved risk stratification, lower rates of subsequent evaluations for chest pain and repeat testing, and improved use of preventive cardiovascular medications in the low to intermediate-risk population served by the MHS.
- To date, there is no large scale prospective randomized trial evaluating the impact of Fractional Flow Reserve Computed Tomography (FFR<sub>CT</sub>) on cost, and it remains questionable that a broad application of FFR<sub>CT</sub> would be cost-effective.
- Data on use of FFR<sub>CT</sub> is very limited to date in the MHS, as it was only approved as a benefit in network provided care (NPC) in November 2019. It is currently not practical to evaluate cost savings to the MHS directly related to the addition of FFR<sub>CT</sub>.
- A pilot on use of FFR<sub>CT</sub> in the Direct Care system is ongoing, with eight sites currently participating. Although the main objective of the pilot is to validate the information technology pathway connections, further cost data will be collected from these pilot sites.
- Due to limitations on equipment available in theater, cybersecurity concerns, as well as the level of dedicated expertise from nurses, physicians, and radiologists required to administer and evaluate cCTA and FFR<sub>CT</sub>, it is not currently a practical solution for diagnosis of CAD in theater.
- There are several factors to consider for the transition to an anatomical pathway of care, including current widespread availability of other types of non-invasive testing within the MHS. In order to provide cCTA and meet access to care standards throughout the MHS, cardiovascular and radiology training programs would need to ensure increased scanner

availability and that their graduates are qualified and trained to perform high-quality cCTA.

• With an increase in the use of cCTA, the role of FFR<sub>CT</sub> may increase in patients considered for ICA after an abnormal cCTA.

#### PURPOSE

As requested by the House Armed Services Committee, this report analyzes the cost savings (including avoidance of transport from the theater of operations) of an anatomy-guided pathway for the diagnosis of CAD through cCTA with the adjunct of fractional flow reserve computed tomography (FFR<sub>CT</sub>) followed by invasive coronary angiography (ICA), as contrasted with a functional or ischemia-guided approach followed by invasive coronary angiography. The Committee also requested that the report outline necessary steps to move to the anatomical pathway and a plan of action for accomplishing that move.

This report analyzes the recent utilization of non-invasive and invasive procedures for evaluating CAD in patients without a diagnosis of previous CAD. In addition, it contains a limited potential cost difference analysis between an anatomy first approach (cCTA approach) versus a functional or ischemia-guided approach (traditional pathway) within the MHS. Due to data limitations, this report also describes research on cost savings to date outside of the MHS.

### BACKGROUND

A functional or ischemia guided pathway with non-invasive cardiac stress tests (graded exercise treadmill testing [GXT], single-photon emission computer tomography [SPECT], stress echocardiogram [SE], and stress cardiac magnetic resonance imaging [CMR]) is the most used method to diagnose possible obstructive CAD in patients with stable chest pain. This approach is supported by the current United States (U.S.) and International guidelines. <sup>1-3</sup> Recently, cCTA use has seen an increase in the U,S., and recent International guidelines have recommended using cCTA as an initial test for diagnosing CAD in symptomatic patients with the same level of evidence and class recommendation as functional or ischemia guided imaging.<sup>3,4</sup> When the clinical evaluation yields a high likelihood of obstructive CAD, with a high event risk, with symptoms of chest pain not responding to medical therapy or chest pain with low levels of exercise, the current guidelines recommend further risk evaluation with ICA, which remains the gold standard in assessment of coronary anatomy and risk. <sup>1-3</sup> Decisions to pursue revascularization (placement of a coronary artery stent or referral for coronary artery bypass surgery) were based on ICA disease severity. Still, recent evidence supports that these decisions require both anatomical and functional information. To date, ICA combined with invasive fractional flow reserve (FFR) is the most validated form of testing for CAD. 5-7 However, recent evidence from national registries and new trials demonstrate a significant discrepancy between non-invasive test findings and ICA, revealing that non-invasive stress imaging only partially succeeds in its intended role as a gatekeeper to ICA.<sup>8-12</sup>

More recently, evidence from randomized clinical trials advocates for a new paradigm of imaging that can detect coronary atherosclerosis, not only stenosis, by using cCTA as a first test strategy. <sup>10,13,14</sup> Studies have shown that cCTA has the strong ability to rule out CAD with a high degree of accuracy, is a better predictor of obstructive CAD, is associated with a reduced incidence of myocardial infarction (MI), and increased prescriptions for aspirin and cholesterol medications. These capabilities are due to its ability to assess for the presence of coronary artery

atherosclerotic plaque and identifying patients at risk at an earlier stage of the disease.<sup>14-16</sup> cCTA findings of normal coronary arteries are associated with an excellent prognosis and low risk of future events beyond five years. <sup>17-20</sup> Recent evaluations have examined the relationship between the atherosclerotic plaque characteristics identified by cCTA to identify myocardial ischemia with good correlation. <sup>21-23</sup> Despite this ability, cCTA has a lower specificity for identifying obstructive CAD. The overestimation of disease severity leads to an increased number of ICA in clinical trials. <sup>15,23-25</sup> Noninvasive fractional flow reserve (FFR<sub>CT</sub>) is a currently available technology designed to address and predict the physiologic consequences of CAD detected by cCTA. This technology creates patient-specific blood flow models from cCTA images using deep learning algorithms based on computational fluid dynamic analysis to create a blood flow solution analysis of a blood vessel. <sup>26</sup> The only vendor currently authorized by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to perform FFR<sub>CT</sub> in the U.S. is Heartflow<sup>®</sup>. By improving the specificity of cCTA, a cCTA/FFR<sub>CT</sub> approach to evaluating chest pain has been more effective at identifying patients with obstructive CAD considered for referral for ICA.

In a recent clinical trial in the study's interventional arm, a cCTA/FFR<sub>CT</sub> approach resulted in 61 percent of ICA safely canceled without an event at one year of follow-up. <sup>27,28</sup> Various centers and post-hoc analyses have demonstrated a higher burden of obstructive CAD at the time of ICA utilizing this approach. <sup>29,30</sup> Furthermore, a post-hoc analysis of a large contemporary U.S.-based clinical trial identified that a combined cCTA/FFR<sub>CT</sub> approach reduced the rate of cCTA studies with obstructive disease while also reducing the incidence of non-obstructive disease by ICA (52 percent vs. 12 percent) when compared to a functional or ischemia based pathway. <sup>31</sup> The performance of cCTA/FFR<sub>CT</sub> when compared to other functional noninvasive tests, has revealed a similar specificity but higher sensitivity for obstructive CAD. <sup>24,32–35</sup> Despite its FDA approval and its increase in clinical use, there is limited knowledge about its impact on clinical decision making, patient outcomes, and cost in the absence of a large-scale prospective randomized clinical trial. There are additional concerns regarding its precise clinical definition of abnormal value, its upfront cost, and the rejection rate due to inadequate image quality.

#### USE OF cCTA IN THE MHS

Service members with symptoms of chest pain warrant further evaluation before these Service members can return to duty. The challenge remains in identifying high-risk findings among a generally low-risk population, where the system requires the means to accurately and expeditiously exclude the presence of CAD. <sup>36–39</sup>

A military tertiary center retrospective analysis evaluating the performance of SPECT imaging and cCTA (without FFR<sub>CT</sub>) for the evaluation of obstructive CAD after an equivocal or moderate risk stress electrocardiogram (ECG) demonstrated a false positive rate of nearly 15 percent among SPECT evaluated patients that translated into 93 percent of those Service members having no evidence of obstructive CAD on ICA. <sup>40</sup> In comparison, cCTA effectively ruled out obstructive CAD in nearly 98 percent of patients, with only 16.5 percent having non-obstructive coronary atherosclerosis. In this analysis, the incidence of referral to ICA was 2.4 percent, further solidifying the negative predictive value of cCTA amongst MHS beneficiaries. <sup>40</sup> Furthermore, radiation doses received by MHS beneficiaries undergoing SPECT imaging remains similar to observed contemporary amounts compared to a nearly 70 percent reduction in radiation doses over the years in cCTA. <sup>41,42</sup>

cCTA in the MHS informs on cardiovascular prognosis<sup>43,44</sup>, lowers rates of subsequent evaluations for chest pain and repeat testing <sup>45,46</sup>, increases use of preventive cardiovascular medications<sup>47</sup>, and safely dispositions patients presenting to the emergency department with chest pain.<sup>48</sup> cCTA has demonstrated that, among MHS beneficiaries with obstructive CAD and non-obstructive coronary atherosclerosis, there was a significant increase in the initiation and intensification of statin therapies, aspirin therapy, and blood pressure medications. These medication changes resulted in significant improvements in total cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, and blood pressure, similar to observed medication changes in contemporary cohorts. <sup>15,16,47</sup> The results from these studies support that CAD identified by cCTA is associated with improved risk stratification, lower rates of subsequent evaluations for chest pain and repeat testing, and improved use of preventive cardiovascular medications in the low to intermediate-risk population served by the MHS.

#### **USE OF FFRCT IN THE MHS**

In June 2019, the Department of Defense (DoD) submitted a Report to Congress detailing benefits and limitations on the use of FFR<sub>CT</sub> as compared to more invasively measured FFR and non-invasive tests such as stress testing, stress echocardiography, and nuclear myocardial perfusion. Following the publication of that report, the Director, DHA issued a Medical Benefit Determination on October 2, 2019, and the use of FFR<sub>CT</sub> was added as a covered service in the TRICARE Policy Manual on November 12, 2019 (Change 55). Since approval, data shows that roughly 85 percent of FFR<sub>CT</sub> performed in network provided care (NPC) have been for beneficiaries enrolled in TRICARE for Life (TFL).

Month	Non-TFL	TFL	Total
Nov 2019	1	13	14
Dec 2019	2	26	- 28
Jan 2020	2	22	24
Feb 2020	5	28	33
Mar 2020	. 7	17	24
Apr 2020	4	10	14
May 2020	2	12	14
Jun 2020	4	20	24
Total	27	148	175

Table 1: FFRC	Performed in	NPC, November	2019 - June 2020
---------------	--------------	---------------	------------------

The process of using Heartflow<sup>®</sup> requires sending the patient's cCTA images to Heartflow's<sup>®</sup> headquarters in Redwood City, California, where their software creates the models to estimate FFR in the coronary arteries. Until recently, cybersecurity concerns prevented military Medical Treatment Facilities (MTFs) from sharing data through this mechanism, so there is little to no volume in Direct Care. However, following DHA directed 8582b approval, Heartflow<sup>®</sup> will be approved to connect to the Medical Community of Interest (MedCOI) servers, DoD electronic medical record, and imaging Picture and Archiving Communication Systems through an approved Business2Business connection. Once approved, MTFs will not need to apply separately for the 8582b connection.

The use of FFR<sub>CT</sub> in the Direct Care system via Heartflow<sup>®</sup> is being piloted at eight sites within the MHS Direct Care system. The primary objectives are validating the information technology pathway connections, cybersecurity, its use, and impact in the downstream utilization of resources, cost-effectiveness, and ICA rates. There are two MTFs actively submitting data as of the publication of this report, with a total of 10 cases as of September 2020: Lackland Air Force Base and Brooke Army Medical Center. Additional pilot sites will include Walter Reed National Military Medical Center, Madigan Army Medical Center, Tripler Army Medical Center, Travis Air Force Base, Wright Patterson Air Force Base, and Portsmouth Naval Medical Center.

#### COST ANALYSIS OF FFRCT

### **CIVILIAN SECTOR**

To date, there is no large scale prospective randomized trial evaluating the impact of FFR<sub>CT</sub> on cost. Several initial studies and registries have estimated the economic value of FFR<sub>CT</sub> with limited outcomes and cost-effectiveness data, particularly compared to cCTA alone or cCTA followed by a functional test. <sup>28,49–51</sup> While studies have demonstrated decreased costs with FFR<sub>CT</sub>, cost reduction reduces with the number of patients referred for ICA. <sup>28</sup> With an improved prediction of obstructive CAD by cCTA/FFR<sub>CT</sub>, including the additional cost and potentially higher catheterization and revascularization costs, it remains questionable that a broad application of FFR<sub>CT</sub> could be cost-effective. <sup>52</sup> It is important to note that recent studies have found the use of cCTA without FFRct to be cost-effective before ICA. <sup>53,54</sup>

### MILITARY HEALTH SYSTEM

To calculate the total cost of FFR<sub>CT</sub>, the four Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) codes for FFR<sub>CT</sub> were used to analyze administrative data from NPC (0501T-0504T). Table 2 shows the volume and average allowed amounts for each of these four CPT codes. The volumes presented are not additive because some claims use more than one of these CPT codes; however, volumes are presented to show the relative frequency of different codes.

#### Table 2: Average Allowed Amounts of FFRct, November 2019 - June 2020

0502T	8	\$133
0503T	130	\$990
0504T	113	\$94

\*Includes only NPC.

To calculate cost of an FFR<sub>CT</sub> claim, values were summed across all CPT codes for a given person and day. The average prices are shown in Table 3. The average amount paid for TFL is lower, as Medicare pays approximately 80 percent of the cost primarily, followed by TRICARE paying the remainder. Due to this reason, the average amount paid for the total population is skewed, and the average allowed amount may be a more appropriate measure of the expected cost of FFR<sub>CT</sub>.

	No. of FFR <sub>CT</sub>	Total Allowed Amount	Average Allowed Amount	Total Amount Paid	Average Amount Paid
Non-TFL	27	\$21,208	\$785	\$19,453	\$720
TFL	150	\$122,210	\$815	\$24,521	\$163
Total	177	\$143,418	\$810	\$43,974	\$248

Table 3: Average Cost of FFRct Performed in NPC	<b>C</b> , November 2019 - June 2020
---	--------------------------------------

Given that FFR<sub>CT</sub> was very recently approved, the low utilization of FFR<sub>CT</sub> in MHS NPC and Direct Care, and less than a year of complete data in the MHS, it is not practical to conclude cost savings in the MHS directly related to the addition of this technology.

FFR<sub>CT</sub> utilization rates for the evaluation of chest pain in the military may be low because the impact of adding FFR<sub>CT</sub> for evaluating stable chest pain depends on the utilization of cCTA.

## PLANNED MHS COST SAVINGS ANALYSIS FOR CAD EVALUATION AND DIAGNOSIS PATHWAYS

To explore the potential utilization and financial impact FFR<sub>CT</sub> may have in the MHS, we are performing an analysis of the diagnostic evaluations for CAD over the past five fiscal years. The investigation thus far has revealed that functional stress tests account for nearly 95 percent of the diagnostic tests (80 percent SPECT, 15 percent SE, 0.2 percent CMR) obtained over the past five years. Trends in utilization for the past five years reveal a small decline in functional tests, while cCTA utilization increased by 12 percent (3.5 percent in FY16 to 5.75 percent FY20). 95 percent of SPECT and 71 percent of cCTA tests are performed in NPC, while Direct Care performs 5 percent of the SPECT and 29 percent of the cCTA tests. An analysis of 2019 FY data from non-TFL beneficiaries undergoing further evaluation or procedures within 90 days of their initial diagnosis provides insight into the most recent trends. Of 26,997 beneficiaries undergoing further non-invasive testing, 88 percent of functional and anatomical non-invasive tests did not warrant further evaluation or revascularization referrals. Of the 12 percent of functional tests requiring further diagnostic testing, 35 percent underwent a repeat functional test, 25 percent underwent a cCTA, and 50 percent were referred for ICA. Despite the high number of referrals

for ICA, only 25 percent of beneficiaries required further revascularization. By contrast, the 12 percent of beneficiaries with a cCTA that required further evaluation, 75 percent had a follow-up functional assessment, and 25 percent an ICA. Of the 25 percent of patients referred for ICA following a cCTA, 90 percent of beneficiaries underwent further revascularization. Overall in FY19, it is estimated that close to 1,000 ICAs following a non-invasive test did not require revascularization. Further analysis is ongoing.

Further cost and resource utilization rates will be collected and analyzed from the FFR<sub>CT</sub> pilot program at eight sites within the MHS Direct Care system (Lackland Air Force Base and Brooke Army Medical Center. Additional pilot sites will include Walter Reed National Military Medical Center, Madigan Army Medical Center, Tripler Army Medical Center, Travis Air Force Base, Wright Patterson Air Force Base, and Portsmouth Naval Medical Center). This will provide direct cost data in routine clinical practice.

## **IMPLICATIONS ON USE OF FFRCT IN THEATER**

To have FFR<sub>CT</sub> in theater, cCTA would need to become available in the theater of operations. The high quality cCTA scan needed to obtain a FFR<sub>CT</sub> analysis comes with a high degree of technological demand and expertise. This requires access to a trained and qualified radiologist or cardiologist, and technicians to protocol, perform, and interpret cCTA in the theater of operations. The type of computerized tomography (CT) scanner needed to perform high quality cCTA has to meet certain minimum requirements (at least 64-row multidetector CT scan) and often has a large footprint, limiting their mobility. Most cCTAs require the administration of medications for heart rate control (oral or intravenous) to achieve a low heart rate (goal of less than 60 beats per minute) prior to the scan (often 60-120 minutes) in combination with medications for arterial vasodilatation (nitroglycerin 800 mcg sublingual) given at the time of the scan. These medications need to be administration and adequate monitoring of the patient prior to, during, and after the scan if there are adverse effects.

Furthermore, due to cybersecurity concerns and issues with a secure, reliable connection to a Heartflow<sup>®</sup> server from remote overseas locations, and the time required to obtain results, the use of FFR<sub>CT</sub> in the deployed setting is not feasible. Experience from deployed cardiologists during Operation Iraqi Freedom and Operation Enduring Freedom revealed that in-theater cardiology support, with the availability of treadmill stress testing and echocardiography, resulted in an 85 percent return to duty rate for Service members evaluated for chest pain. <sup>55,56</sup>

#### **CONCLUSION**

It is currently not practical to conclude cost savings to the MHS directly related to the addition of FFR<sub>CT</sub>. Transitioning from a functional imaging to an anatomic strategy will be challenging and warrants exploration. While currently endorsed by international guidelines, U.S. guidelines do not support this approach at the time of this writing. It is important to note that while the U.S. guidelines will be updated in spring 2021, the updated recommendations for evaluating and diagnosing CAD are not currently available for public review.

There are several other factors to consider. In the MHS, there is widespread availability of nuclear medicine, stress treadmill, and stress echocardiography equipment that is likely contributing to the underutilization of cCTA. The availability of high-quality cCTA may not be available throughout the MHS, as it requires medical and technical expertise to produce consistent, high-quality imaging. Currently, there are less than 20 cCTA board-certified cardiologists and certified trained radiologists in the MHS, and only five have obtained additional dedicated training in advanced cardiac imaging. In the MHS, there are new generation scanners capable of performing cCTA, but cCTAs are often dependent on scanner availability to perform studies. In order to provide cCTA and meet access to care standards throughout the MHS, particularly if the utilization of cCTA is to increase, cardiovascular and radiology training programs need to ensure increased scanner availability and that their graduates are qualified and trained to perform high-quality cCTA.

Recent results from a large scale prospectively randomized clinical trial (ISCHEMIA Trial) sponsored by the National Institutes of Health have important implications on how cardiac imaging is used to evaluate patients for CAD.<sup>57</sup> Based on the recently published international guidelines for the evaluation of chest pain and the ISCHEMIA trial, cCTA will likely play an important role in the assessment of chest pain, implementation of aggressive medical therapy, and diagnostic efficiency, as a majority of patients who are evaluated with cCTA will have either no CAD or non-obstructive disease and will not need further testing. With the increased use of cCTA, the role of FFR<sub>CT</sub> may increase in patients considered for ICA after an abnormal cCTA.

#### REFERENCES

- Fihn SD, Gardin JM, Abrams J, et al. 2012 ACCF/AHA/ACP/AATS/PCNA/SCAI/STS guideline for the diagnosis and management of patients with stable ischemic heart disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association task force on practice guidelines, and the American College of Physicians, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, and Society of Thoracic Surgeons. *Circulation*. 2012;126(25):e354-471. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e318277d6a0
- Fihn SD, Blankenship JC, Alexander KP, et al. 2014 ACC/AHA/AATS/PCNA/SCAI/STS focused update of the guideline for the diagnosis and management of patients with stable ischemic heart disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines, and the American Association for Thoracic Surgery, Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, and Society of Thoracic Surgeons. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;64(18):1929-1949. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2014.07.017
- 3. Knuuti J, Wijns W, Saraste A, et al. 2019 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of chronic coronary syndromes. *Eur Heart J*. 2020;41(3):407-477. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehz425
- 4. Levin DC, Parker L, Halpern EJ, Rao VM. Coronary CT Angiography: Reversal of Earlier Utilization Trends. J Am Coll Radiol. 2019;16(2):147-155. doi:10.1016/j.jacr.2018.07.022
- 5. Tonino PAL, De Bruyne B, Pijls NHJ, et al. Fractional Flow Reserve versus Angiography for Guiding Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. *N Engl J Med.* 2009;360(3):213-224. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0807611
- De Bruyne B, Pijls NHJ, Kalesan B, et al. Fractional Flow Reserve-Guided PCI versus Medical Therapy in Stable Coronary Disease. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(11):991-1001. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1205361
- Xaplanteris P, Fournier S, Pijls NHJ, et al. Five-Year Outcomes with PCI Guided by Fractional Flow Reserve. N Engl J Med. 2018;379(3):250-259. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1803538
- 8. Patel MR, Dai D, Hernandez AF, et al. Prevalence and predictors of nonobstructive coronary artery disease identified with coronary angiography in contemporary clinical practice. *Am Heart J.* 2014;167(6):846-852.e2. doi:10.1016/j.ahj.2014.03.001
- 9. Chinnaiyan KM, Raff GL, Goraya T, et al. Coronary Computed Tomography Angiography After Stress Testing. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2012;59(7):688-695. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2011.10.886

- Douglas PS, Hoffmann U, Patel MR, et al. Outcomes of Anatomical versus Functional Testing for Coronary Artery Disease. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(14):1291-1300. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1415516
- 11. Patel MR, Peterson ED, Dai D, et al. Low diagnostic yield of elective coronary angiography. *N Engl J Med*. 2010;362(10):886-895. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0907272
- Wang ZJ, Zhang LL, Elmariah S, Han HY, Zhou YJ. Prevalence and Prognosis of Nonobstructive Coronary Artery Disease in Patients Undergoing Coronary Angiography or Coronary Computed Tomography Angiography: A Meta-Analysis. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2017;92(3):329-346. doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2016.11.016
- 13. SCOT-HEART investigators. CT coronary angiography in patients with suspected angina due to coronary heart disease (SCOT-HEART): an open-label, parallel-group, multicentre trial. *Lancet Lond Engl.* 2015;385(9985):2383-2391. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60291-4
- 14. SCOT-HEART Investigators, Newby DE, Adamson PD, et al. Coronary CT Angiography and 5-Year Risk of Myocardial Infarction. *N Engl J Med.* 2018;379(10):924-933. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1805971
- Foy AJ, Dhruva SS, Peterson B, Mandrola JM, Morgan DJ, Redberg RF. Coronary Computed Tomography Angiography vs Functional Stress Testing for Patients With Suspected Coronary Artery Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Intern Med. 2017;177(11):1623-1631. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.4772
- Williams MC, Hunter A, Shah ASV, et al. Use of Coronary Computed Tomographic Angiography to Guide Management of Patients With Coronary Disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016;67(15):1759-1768. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2016.02.026
- Min JK, Dunning A, Lin FY, et al. Age- and Sex-Related Differences in All-Cause Mortality Risk Based on Coronary Computed Tomography Angiography Findings: Results From the International Multicenter CONFIRM (Coronary CT Angiography Evaluation for Clinical Outcomes: An International Multicenter Registry) of 23,854 Patients Without Known Coronary Artery Disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;58(8):849-860. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2011.02.074
- 18. Hadamitzky M, Täubert S, Deseive S, et al. Prognostic value of coronary computed tomography angiography during 5 years of follow-up in patients with suspected coronary artery disease. *Eur Heart J.* 2013;34(42):3277-3285. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/eht293
- Smulders MW, Jaarsma C, Nelemans PJ, et al. Comparison of the prognostic value of negative non-invasive cardiac investigations in patients with suspected or known coronary artery disease-a meta-analysis. *Eur Heart J - Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2017;18(9):980-987. doi:10.1093/ehjci/jex014
- 20. Hoffmann U, Ferencik M, Udelson JE, et al. Prognostic Value of Noninvasive Cardiovascular Testing in Patients With Stable Chest Pain: Insights From the PROMISE

Trial (Prospective Multicenter Imaging Study for Evaluation of Chest Pain). *Circulation*. 2017;135(24):2320-2332. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116.024360

- 21. Bakhshi H, Meyghani Z, Kishi S, et al. Comparative Effectiveness of CT-Derived Atherosclerotic Plaque Metrics for Predicting Myocardial Ischemia. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2019;12(7, Part 2):1367-1376. doi:10.1016/j.jcmg.2018.05.019
- 22. Gaur S, Øvrehus KA, Dey D, et al. Coronary plaque quantification and fractional flow reserve by coronary computed tomography angiography identify ischaemia-causing lesions. *Eur Heart J.* 2016;37(15):1220-1227. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehv690
- Park H-B, Heo R, ó Hartaigh B, et al. Atherosclerotic Plaque Characteristics by CT Angiography Identify Coronary Lesions That Cause Ischemia: A Direct Comparison to Fractional Flow Reserve. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2015;8(1):1-10. doi:10.1016/j.jcmg.2014.11.002
- Knuuti J, Ballo H, Juarez-Orozco LE, et al. The performance of non-invasive tests to rule-in and rule-out significant coronary artery stenosis in patients with stable angina: a metaanalysis focused on post-test disease probability. *Eur Heart J*. 2018;39(35):3322-3330. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehy267
- 25. Lu MT, Meyersohn NM, Mayrhofer T, et al. Central Core Laboratory versus Site Interpretation of Coronary CT Angiography: Agreement and Association with Cardiovascular Events in the PROMISE Trial. *Radiology*. 2018;287(1):87-95. doi:10.1148/radiol.2017172181
- Taylor CA, Fonte TA, Min JK. Computational Fluid Dynamics Applied to Cardiac Computed Tomography for Noninvasive Quantification of Fractional Flow Reserve: Scientific Basis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61(22):2233-2241. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2012.11.083
- 27. Douglas PS, Pontone G, Hlatky MA, et al. Clinical outcomes of fractional flow reserve by computed tomographic angiography-guided diagnostic strategies vs. usual care in patients with suspected coronary artery disease: the prospective longitudinal trial of FFR(CT): outcome and resource impacts study. *Eur Heart J.* 2015;36(47):3359-3367. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehv444
- Douglas PS, De Bruyne B, Pontone G, et al. 1-Year Outcomes of FFRCT-Guided Care in Patients With Suspected Coronary Disease: The PLATFORM Study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016;68(5):435-445. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2016.05.057
- Nørgaard BL, Hjort J, Gaur S, et al. Clinical Use of Coronary CTA-Derived FFR for Decision-Making in Stable CAD. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2017;10(5):541-550. doi:10.1016/j.jcmg.2015.11.025
- 30. Jensen JM, Bøtker HE, Mathiassen ON, et al. Computed tomography derived fractional flow reserve testing in stable patients with typical angina pectoris: influence on downstream

rate of invasive coronary angiography. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2018;19(4):405-414. doi:10.1093/ehjci/jex068

- 31. Lu MT, Ferencik M, Roberts RS, et al. Noninvasive FFR Derived From Coronary CT Angiography: Management and Outcomes in the PROMISE Trial. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2017;10(11):1350-1358. doi:10.1016/j.jcmg.2016.11.024
- 32. Driessen RS, Danad I, Stuijfzand WJ, et al. Comparison of Coronary Computed Tomography Angiography, Fractional Flow Reserve, and Perfusion Imaging for Ischemia Diagnosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019;73(2):161-173. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2018.10.056
- 33. Ghekiere O, Bielen J, Leipsic J, et al. Correlation of FFR-derived from CT and stress perfusion CMR with invasive FFR in intermediate-grade coronary artery stenosis. *Int J Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2019;35(3):559-568. doi:10.1007/s10554-018-1464-4
- 34. Celeng C, Leiner T, Maurovich-Horvat P, et al. Anatomical and Functional Computed Tomography for Diagnosing Hemodynamically Significant Coronary Artery Disease: A Meta-Analysis. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2019;12(7 Part 2):1316-1325. doi:10.1016/j.jcmg.2018.07.022
- 35. Sand NPR, Nissen L, Winther S, et al. Prediction of Coronary Revascularization in Stable Angina: Comparison of FFRCT With CMR Stress Perfusion Imaging. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2020;13(4):994-1004. doi:10.1016/j.jcmg.2019.06.028
- Smallman DP, Webber BJ, Mazuchowski EL, Scher AI, Jones SO, Cantrell JA. Sudden cardiac death associated with physical exertion in the US military, 2005–2010. Br J Sports Med. 2016;50(2):118-123. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2015-094900
- Eckart RE, Shry EA, Burke AP, et al. Sudden Death in Young Adults: An Autopsy-Based Series of a Population Undergoing Active Surveillance. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;58(12):1254-1261. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2011.01.049
- Webber BJ, Seguin PG, Burnett DG, Clark LL, Otto JL. Prevalence of and Risk Factors for Autopsy-Determined Atherosclerosis Among US Service Members, 2001-2011. JAMA. 2012;308(24):2577. doi:10.1001/jama.2012.70830
- 39. Pickett CA. Accuracy of Traditional Age, Gender and Symptom Based Pre-Test Estimation of Angiographically Significant Coronary Artery Disease in Patients Referred for Coronary Computed Tomographic Angiography. *Coron Artery Dis*.:4.
- 40. Slim J, Castillo-Rojas L, Hann M, et al. Computed Tomography Coronary Angiography Versus Stress Myocardial Perfusion Imaging for Risk Stratification in Patients With High Occupational Risk: *J Thorac Imaging*. 2012;27(1):40-43. doi:10.1097/RTI.0b013e3181fbf983
- 41. Stocker TJ, Deseive S, Leipsic J, et al. Reduction in radiation exposure in cardiovascular computed tomography imaging: results from the PROspective multicenter registry on

radiaTion dose Estimates of cardiac CT anglOgraphy iN daily practice in 2017 (PROTECTION VI). *Eur Heart J.* 2018;39(41):3715-3723. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehy546

- 42. Jones R. Temporal Trends in Radiation Exposure and Utilization of Coronary CT Angiography, SPECT, and Invasive Coronary Angiography. *Br J Med Med Res.* 2014;4(17):3384-3392. doi:10.9734/BJMMR/2014/9394
- Gore R, Hulten E, Cheezum MK, et al. Prognostic Value of Coronary Computed Tomographic Angiography Among 1,125 Consecutive Military Health Care Beneficiaries Without Known Coronary Artery Disease. *Mil Med.* 2012;177(9):1105-1109. doi:10.7205/MILMED-D-12-00096
- 44. Lin CK, McDonough RJ, Prentice RL, et al. Assessment of major adverse cardiovascular events and ischemic stroke with coronary computed tomography angiography based upon angiographic diagnosis in a high-volume single center. *SAGE Open Med.* 2014;2:205031211453353. doi:10.1177/205031211453353
- 45. Ahmadian HR, Thomas DM, Shaw DJ, et al. Effect of Coronary Computed Tomography Angiography Disease Burden on the Incidence of Recurrent Chest Pain. *Int Sch Res Not*. 2014;2014:1-9. doi:10.1155/2014/304825
- 46. Thomas DM, Shaw DJ, Barnwell ML, et al. The lack of obstructive coronary artery disease on coronary CT angiography safely reduces downstream cost and resource utilization during subsequent chest pain presentations. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr. 2015;9(4):329-336. doi:10.1016/j.jcct.2015.03.014
- 47. Cheezum MK, Hulten EA, Smith RM, et al. Changes in Preventive Medical Therapies and CV Risk Factors After CT Angiography. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2013;6(5):574-581. doi:10.1016/j.jcmg.2012.11.016
- 48. Jones RL, Thomas DM, Barnwell ML, et al. Safe and rapid disposition of low-tointermediate risk patients presenting to the emergency department with chest pain: a 1-year high-volume single-center experience. *J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr*. 2014;8(5):375-383. doi:10.1016/j.jcct.2014.08.003
- 49. Fairbairn TA, Nieman K, Akasaka T, et al. Real-world clinical utility and impact on clinical decision-making of coronary computed tomography angiography-derived fractional flow reserve: lessons from the ADVANCE Registry. *Eur Heart J*. 2018;39(41):3701-3711. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehy530
- Hlatky MA, Saxena A, Koo B-K, Erglis A, Zarins CK, Min JK. Projected costs and consequences of computed tomography-determined fractional flow reserve. *Clin Cardiol*. 2013;36(12):743-748. doi:10.1002/clc.22205
- Hlatky MA, De Bruyne B, Pontone G, et al. Quality-of-Life and Economic Outcomes of Assessing Fractional Flow Reserve With Computed Tomography Angiography: PLATFORM. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;66(21):2315-2323. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2015.09.051

- 52. Villines TC. Computed Tomography–Derived Fractional Flow Reserve. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2020;13(1):106-108. doi:10.1016/j.jcmg.2019.04.005
- Chang H-J, Lin FY, Gebow D, et al. Selective Referral Using CCTA Versus Direct Referral for Individuals Referred to Invasive Coronary Angiography for Suspected CAD: A Randomized, Controlled, Open-Label Trial. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019;12(7, Part 2):1303-1312. doi:10.1016/j.jcmg.2018.09.018
- Rudziński PN, Kruk M, Kępka C, et al. Assessing the value of coronary artery computed tomography as the first-line anatomical test for stable patients with indications for invasive angiography due to suspected coronary artery disease. Initial cost analysis in the CAT-CAD randomized trial. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr. 2020;14(1):75-79. doi:10.1016/j.jcct.2019.07.008
- Sullenberger L, Gentlesk PJ. Cardiovascular Disease in a Forward Military Hospital during Operation Iraqi Freedom: A Report from Deployed Cardiologists. *Mil Med.* 2008;173(2):193-197. doi:10.7205/MILMED.173.2.193
- 56. Watts LJA, Russo CFD, Villines LTC, Jones CSO, Nasir MJM, Eckart RE. Cardiovascular Complaints Among Military Members During Operation Enduring Freedom. Published online 2016:5.
- Maron DJ, Hochman JS, Reynolds HR, et al. Initial Invasive or Conservative Strategy for Stable Coronary Disease. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(15):1395-1407. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1915922

# **APPENDIX A: ACRONYMS**

CAD	coronary artery disease
cCTA	coronary computed tomography angiography
CMR	cardiac magnetic resonance imaging
CPT	current procedural terminology
CT	computerized tomography
DHA	Defense Health Agency
DoD	Department of Defense
ECG	electrocardiogram
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FFR	fractional flow reserve
FFR <sub>CT</sub>	fractional flow reserve computed tomography
FY	fiscal year
GXT	graded exercise treadmill testing
ICA	invasive cardiac angiography
MedCOI	Medical Community of Interest
MHS	Military Health System
MI	myocardial infarction
MTF	military medical treatment facility
NDAA	National Defense Authorization Act
NPC	network provided care
SE	stress echocardiogram
SPECT	single photon emission computer tomography
TFL	TRICARE for Life
U.S.	United States

.